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QUESTIONS PRESENTED 
 

I. Did the Teacher Retirement System of Fordham (“TRSF”) and the 

Fordham Municipal Retirement Fund (“FMRF”) allege a viable claim 

against the Red River Exploration Company (“Red River”) under 

Section 10(b) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934? 

II. Were TRSF and FMRF required to allege that James Wilson was a 

culpable participant in Red River’s primary violation of Section 10(b) 

in order to state a control person liability claim against him under 

Section 20(a of the Securities and Exchange Act? 
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STATUTES INVOLVED 
 
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, 15 U.S.C. § 78 et seq. (2012): 
 It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, by the use of 
any means or instrumentality of interstate commerce or of the mails, or of any 
facility of any national securities exchange--  
 § 78j(b). To use or employ, in connection with the purchase or sale of 
any security registered on a national securities exchange or any security not so 
registered, or any securities-based swap agreement[,] any manipulative or 
deceptive device or contrivance in contravention of such rules and regulations 
as the Commission may prescribe as necessary or appropriate in the public 
interest or for the protection of investors. 
 

§ 78t(a). Every person who, directly or indirectly, controls 
any person liable under any provision of this chapter or of any rule or 
regulation thereunder shall also be liable jointly and severally with and to the 
same extent as such controlled person to any person to whom such controlled 
person is liable (including to the Commission in any action brought under 
paragraph (1) or (3) of section 78u(d) of this title), unless the controlling 
person acted in good faith and did not directly or indirectly induce the act or 
acts constituting the violation or cause of action. 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 

During the late 1990’s James Wilson directed Red River (collectively 

“Petitioners”) to begin the relatively new and highly controversial practice of 

hydraulic fracturing, otherwise known as “fracking.” (R. at 3). From the outset 

of the decision to frack – and before the practice was implemented – Petitioners 

environmental team expressed concerns regarding the risks associated with the 

new techniques. (R. at 4). Setting a precedent that would become the focal 

point of this case in the years to come, Petitions ignored the environmental 

concerns and immediately began to frack their various oil fields. (R. at 4). This 

practice of dismissing environmental concerns once again became prominent 

when, in late 2017, Petitioners received numerous calls from multiple 

university geology departments reporting confirmed seismic activity within 

Petitioners fracked oil fields. (R. at 5). On the advice of their in-house 

environmental team, and with no additional third-party evaluations, Petitioners 

chose to ignore the unsolicited warnings from the universities. (R. at 5). 

 During the same time period, wherein Petitioners were receiving 

uninvited warnings from various universities, Petitioners were also engaged in 

discussions with their in-house engineering team regarding the viability of their 

toxic wastewater storage facilities. (R. at 5). Although the engineers held the 

opinion that the structures were structurally adequate, they nevertheless 

expressed concerns that the toxic storage facilities had come close to reaching 

capacity multiple times. (R. at 5). A recommendation was made to increase 
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capacity immediately. (R. at 5). Petitioners agreed only to expand their storage 

facilities if they increased operation.  

 Some months later, in a January 2018 email to Red Rivers general 

counsel and chief environmental officer, Wilson opined that Red Rivers 

environmental disclosures regarding actual events – such as seepage of toxic 

chemicals into ground water and methane related air pollution – gave the 

impression that Red River was not a good corporate citizen. (R. at 5). Wilson 

additionally expressed a desire for the freedom to make positive environmental 

statements absent any internal clearance mechanism. (R. at 5). Wilson was 

further emboldened to downplay materialized environmental blunders and 

project a positive tone due to a February 2018 conference at Midlands 

Petroleum Club. (R. at 6). At this conference, a general counsel at a gas 

exploration company explained that she saw a small risk to Section 10(b) 

exposure if generalized statements about the company’s commitment to 

compliance and efforts to protect the environment were espoused. (R. at 6). 

Additionally, so long as the opinions regarding compliance and environmental 

preparedness did not include factual assertions and did not omit relevant 

background information, the fellow oil executive claimed she took a more 

liberal view on disclosure. (R. at 6).  

 Following the Midland Petroleum Club’s conference, Wilson told his 

general counsel and chief environmental officer that they were to take a more 

positive tone in Red Rivers disclosure documents. (R. at 6). Wilson wanted clear 

and unambiguous statements emphasizing Red Rivers commitment to 
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environmental compliance, dedication to compliance efforts, and its view on the 

adequacy of its measures taken to protect the environment. (R. at 6).  

 In March 2018, Petitioners 10-K was released. Five statements in this 

annual report are at issue in this case, and as such, merit full citation. First, 

Petitioners stated that “our commitment to the environment is unwavering and 

constant.” (R. at 6, 36). Next, Petitioners claimed that “[t]here is no higher 

priority than ensuring that our drilling activity continues to be conducted in a 

manner consisted with protecting the environment and preventing or 

remediating any damage resulting from an environmental occurrence.” (R. at 6, 

36). The third material statement was that Red River’s commitment “to the 

environment is demonstrated through our investment in and adoption of the 

latest technology in order to minimize water or soil contamination. The 

commitment differentiates us from our competitors.” (R. at 6, 36). The fourth 

material statement in the March 2018 10-K claimed that Petitioners “continue 

to conduct frequent environmental practices reviews to assure our commitment 

to environmental best practices and devote out most talented personnel and a 

substantial budget to ensure protection of the environment.” (R. at 6, 36). 

Finally, Petitioners claimed that “[F]racking involves no serious environmental 

issues not associated with conventional drilling.” (R. at 6, 36). 

 Some months later, in May 2018, Petitioners yet again received 

unsolicited calls from university geology departments reporting increased low-

level seismic activity. (R. at 7). The seismic activity had measurably increased 

from just half a year earlier. This was enough to concern the chief 
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environmental officer. (R. at 7). She met with Wilson and the general counsel to 

discuss next-steps. (R. at 7). Although they concluded that disclosing this 

information would be potentially “market roiling,” they agreed that instead of 

disclosure they would investigate the activity in conjunction with the 

company’s upcoming environmental practices review in July. (R. at 7). The 

chief environmental officer made a note to identify a prominent university 

geologist to conduct the investigation. (R. at 7).  

 On May 15, Wilson conducted an investor meeting with the knowledge of 

the increased seismic activity and the conclusion that if he were to disclose this 

information Red River’s capitalization would be negatively affected. (R. at 7). 

Nevertheless, Wilson stated “I think we have the tightest environmental 

practices in the West Texas oil patch.” (R. at 7, 36). Even more striking, given 

the increased seismic activity and recent meeting, Wilson stated that 

“[c]andidly, I honestly believe a major environmental event has about a zero 

percent chance of occurring on our property.” (R. at 7, 36). Unsurprisingly, 

these statements were not cleared with either his concerned chief 

environmental officer or Red Rivers general counsel. (R. at 7). Less than two 

weeks later, Petitioners again received numerous calls alerting Petitioners of 

the increased and frequent low-level seismic activity. (R. at 7). Again, 

Petitioners chose to ignore these –presently bi-weekly– warnings from 

university geology departments. (R. at 7). 

 Following these various meetings and phone calls, Petitioners filed a 

Form 10-Q announcing the company’s financial and operating results for the 
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quarter on June, 1 2018. (R. at 7). The Risk Factors articulated the possibility 

that its “operations could be subject to disruption by natural disasters beyond 

our control” including “severe storms, fires, earthquakes, civil unrest, and 

terrorist attacks,” (R. at 7, 8). Two days later, the Teacher Retirement System of 

Fordham (“TRSF”) and the Fordham Municipal Retirement Fund (“FMRF”) 

(collectively “Respondents”) purchased shares for $27 million and $31 million 

on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) respectively. (R. at 8). One week 

subsequent these purchases, a series of mid-level seismic shocks devastated 

the integrity of Petitioners toxic waste storage site. (R. at 8). The size of the 

environmental disaster was extensive enough to make international news. (R. 

at 8). Millions of galls of wastewater seeped into West Texas groundwater and 

into regional aquifers. (R. at 8).  

 Petitioners common stock plummeted 25% in a single day: from $126 per 

share to $94.50 per share. (R. at 8). To make matters worse, an August 1st, 

2018 investigation by federal and state environmental agencies concluded that 

Petitioners, far from exercising best practices, were in fact using excessive 

amounts of explosives to condition the shale rock for the injection process. (R. 

at 8). The reports were inconclusive regarding whether the blasts themselves 

contributed to the seismic activity, although everyone involved, including the 

geologist retained by Petitioners, concluded that the excessive explosives were 

the proximate cause of the wastewater escaping the storage site. (R. at 8). 

Finally, the dismissed 2017 warnings from the engineering department came to 
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fruition insofar as the storage tanks were indeed filled beyond capacity. (R. at 

8). 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 
 

The court of appeals was correct in holding that Respondents alleged a 

viable claim against Petitioners under Section 10(b) of the Securities and 

Exchange Act. Petitioners misled investors by omitting information that would 

have significantly altered the total mix of information available to investors. 

These statements replete with omissions and materially misleading were not 

merely statements of puffery or corporate mismanagement. Corporate 

mismanagement is only a defense where shareholders have alternative avenues 

of restitution or, at a minimum, a forum to disagree with their managers and 

use the courts to seek a judgment in their favor. By contrast, the 

misinformation in this case was cause by information asymmetry held solely by 

Petitioners. It is exactly this type of information discrepancy that the disclosure 

regime of the securities laws are designed to protect against.  

As to puffery, the context in which the statements were made makes 

them inherently misleading. Furthermore, courts should exercise caution when 

deciding if a statement was mere puffery as a matter of law at the motion to 

dismiss stage. Puffery statements remain actionable if they omit relevant 

information upon which a reasonable investor would rely. Petitioners omitted 

exactly such information. Finally, Respondents adequately pleaded that 

Petitioners had the required mental state – scienter – to produce a viable 10(b) 
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claim. Petitioners turned a blind eye to damaging reports, deviated form best 

practices, and ignored the safety concerns of their own engineers.  

The court of appeals was additionally correct in holding that “culpable 

participation” is not a required element for making out a prima facie case of 

control person liability under Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act. A requirement 

of “culpable participation” does not comport with a plain reading of the 

provision, which has a built-in “good faith” defense that would render any 

“culpable participation” requirement meaningless. Legislative intent also 

indicates that Congress intended Section 20(a) to be a broad, remedial 

provision, and unduly limiting its scope by requiring a “culpable participation” 

element would be inapposite to that purpose. 

ARGUMENT 
 

I. TSRF AND FMRF ALLEGED A VIABLE CLAIM AGAINST 
PETITIONERS UNDER SECTION 10(b) OF THE SECURITIES AND 
EXCHANGE ACT 

 
In the present case, the Supreme Court of the United States should 

affirm the lower court’s decision and hold that Respondents adequately pleaded 

their claims under Section 10(b) of the Securities and Exchange Act. Such a 

ruling would comport with the statutory language in Section 10(b) and 

encourage future directors to promptly disclose and accurately represent risk 

factors to their shareholders. In the case at bar, such a disclosure did not 

materialize. Indeed, Respondents relied on public statements and documents 

composed by Petitioners that were misleading as to material facts. Further still, 

the record sufficiently shows that these misleading statements upon which 
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Respondents relied were issued with scienter. This reliance upon Petitioners – 

who had a duty to disclose and not materially misrepresent facts to their 

shareholders – directly lead to excessive losses by Respondents. 

A. The Statements Composed By Petitioners Were Misleading As To 
A Material Fact 

 
Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act makes it unlawful to “use or 

employ, in connection with the purchase or sale of any security… any 

manipulative device or contrivance in contravention of [the] rules and 

regulations” prescribed by the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). 

17 C.F.R. § 240.10b. Specifically, Rule 10b-5 declares it unlawful to “make any 

untrue statement of material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in 

order to make the statement made, in light of the circumstances under which 

they were made, not misleading.” 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5. On appeal is whether 

Respondents adequately pleaded their claim under Section 10(b) of the 

Exchange Act. In order to properly state a claim under which relief can be 

sought under Section 10(b), a plaintiff must allege that a defendant: (1) made 

material misrepresentations; (2) with scienter; (3) in connection with the 

purchase or sale of a security; (4) upon which the plaintiff relied; (5) causing 

economic loss as a result of the material misrepresentation. Dura 

Pharmaceuticals v. Broudo, 544 U.S. 336, 341-42 (2005).  

At issue in this case is both; (1) whether Petitioners made material 

misrepresentations; and (2) whether those misrepresentations were produced 

with scienter. Respondents will take each element in turn. Beginning with 

material misrepresentations, Respondents will demonstrate that the misleading 
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statements made by Petitioners were not merely corporate mismanagement or 

puffery. Indeed, these statements amounted to material misrepresentations, 

leading Respondents to make a sizable investment in Red River. Next, 

Respondents will establish that Petitioners acted with scienter in making the 

aforementioned misrepresentations, thus, establishing a viable claim under 

Section 10(b). 

i. Corporate Mismanagement 
 

The Supreme Court established the reigning standard on materiality in 

TSC Industries Inc. v. Northway Inc, 426 U.S. 438 (1976). In that case, the 

Court concluded that a fact – or omission – is material under the securities 

laws if there is a substantial likelihood a reasonable investor would consider 

the fact important. Id. This requirement of substantial likelihood does not 

require proof that disclosure of the omitted fact would have led the investor to 

change their investment decision. Id at 449. Instead, under the substantial 

likelihood test a plaintiff must show that “under all the circumstances, the 

omitted fact would have assumed actual significance in the deliberations of a 

reasonable investor.” Id. The court further clarifies this standard by saying the 

omission “must have significantly altered the total mix of information made 

available.” Id. In the present case, Petitioners omitted at least three material 

facts that would have altered the total mix of available information. Those 

omissions were in regard to: (1) the three series of seismic activity warnings; (2) 

the near over-capacity of their storage systems; and (3) the excessive use of 

explosives relative to industry best practices. These omissions, taken in 
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conjunction with statements 2-5 and 7-8, would have actual significance to a 

reasonable investor as they had to Respondents. As such, the misstatements 

and omissions made my Petitioners were indeed material. 

Subsequent case law surrounding the concept of materiality in securities 

law has led to a number of protections companies and their directors can rely 

on in making statements. For example, among other disqualifications a Section 

10(b) claim is viable only if the misleading statements cannot be characterized 

as mere corporate mismanagement. Santa Fe Industries, Inc. v. Green, 430 U.S. 

462 (1977). In the current case, the appellate court correctly found Petitioners 

statements to go beyond mere corporate mismanagement. Santa Fe Industries, 

the seminal case describing corporate mismanagement, was brought by a 

group of minority shareholders who felt their shares were inaccurately 

appraised for the purpose of facilitating a short-form merger. Id. In Santa Fe, 

Justice White explained that instances of corporate mismanagement “in which 

the essence of the complaint is that shareholders were treated unfairly” fell 

outside the scope of Section 10(b). Id at 477. Crucially, the minority 

shareholders in Santa Fe had alternative avenues upon which to seek a more 

accurate appraisal than that which their management had given them. Id. The 

minority shareholders in Santa Fe could have either accepted the price 

proffered or hired their own firm and exercised their appraisal rights in the 

Delaware Court of Chancery. Id. at 478. These alternative avenues of protection 

distinguish mere corporate mismanagement from the misleading statements 

Petitioners espoused throughout 2018. Relying on statements from Red Rivers 
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executives, as well as Red Rivers 10-K and 10-Q, was the only information 

upon which Respondents were able to make their investment decisions. They 

had no alternative avenues to go against Petitioners decisions. The securities 

laws are designed around disclosure for this very purpose: to combat the 

information asymmetry between management and the shareholders. 

Protecting the disclosure regime of the securities laws has won out 

against the protection of misguided corporate managerial decisions in a 

multitude of cases. The Eastern District of New York properly enforced the 

protections of our disclosure regime over managerial decisions when it held 

that “mere fact that the conduct… arguably constitutes mismanagement will 

not preclude a claim… if the defendant made a statement of material fact 

wholly inconsistent with known existing mismanagement or failed to disclose a 

specific material fact resulting from that mismanagement.” In re Donna Karan 

Int’l Sec. Litig., No. 97-CV-2011, 1998 WL 637547 at 192 (E.D.N.Y. Aug 14, 

1998). In brief, when executives mislead shareholders – as opposed to 

mismanaging a company – misleading statements become actionable. In In re 

Wells Fargo Sec. Litig., the defendants were found to have gone beyond the 

scope of corporate mismanagement due to their “deliberate failure to recognize 

problem loans, thus understating the [loan loss revenue].” In re Wells Fargo 

Sec. Litig., 12 F.3d 922 (9th Cir. 1993).  

In the present case, Petitioners deliberately failed to recognize or 

investigate problems with seismic activity. (R. at 5, 7). Despite receiving 

numerous unsolicited calls from multiple university geology departments 
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warning initially of seismic activity, and then increased seismic activity, the 

Petitioners failed to recognize or disclose any of this information to 

shareholders and would-be investors. Petitioners further understated the risks 

associated with their drill sites. Petitioners claimed that they had adopted the 

latest technology which differentiated them from their competitors. Stmt. 3. 

They espoused the view that “a major environmental event has about a zero 

percent chance of occurring on [Petitioners] property.” Stmt. 7. Finally, 

Petitioners claimed they “continue to conduct frequent environmental practices 

to assure our commitment to environmental best practices” despite breaking 

from those practices and excessively denotating subterranean explosives. Stmt. 

3. These statements materially understated the risks associated with 

Petitioners drill site much like Wells Fargo understated the loss of revenue in 

their underlying loans. Unfortunately for Respondents, there was no alternative 

avenue to seek price and risk information; only Petitioners had the relevant 

information to disclose to their shareholders and investors. 

Minimal due diligence and reckless business practices compared to peers 

are not merely poor managerial decisions, rather, they amount to material 

misrepresentations when not adequately disclosed. Id. See also In re 

Countrywide Fin. Corp. Sec. Litig., 588 F.Supp.2d 1132 (C.D.Cal. 2008).  

Indeed, when Petitioners made public statements about their environmental 

practices and adoption of technologies those representations were required to 

be complete and accurate. See In re Morgan Stanley Info. Fund Sec. Litig., 592 

F.3d 347, 366 (2d. Cir. 2010). In sum, failing to disclose three different series 
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of warnings from universities, warnings about storage over-capacity, and 

government reports concerning excessive use of explosives, rises beyond the 

scope of mere mismanagement and demanded disclosure. 

ii. Puffery 
 

In addition to being misleading as to a material fact, 10(b) claims cannot 

be based off of puffery statements.  Such statements must be materially 

misleading or demonstrably false. Ong v. Chipotle Mexican Grill, Inc., 294 F. 

Supp 3d 199, 232 (S.D.N.Y. 2018). Courts have recognized that sometimes 

such statements will be held unactionable if they are “too general to cause a 

reasonable investor to rely on them.” City of Pontiac Policemen’s & Firemen’s 

Ret. Sys. V. UBS AG, 752 F.3d 173, 183 (2d. Cir. 2014). The quintessential 

examples of such generalized puffery are “general statements about reputation, 

integrity, and compliance with ethical norms,” “particularly when such 

statements are explicitly aspirational with qualifiers such as ‘aims to,’ ‘wants 

to,’ and ‘should.’ Doubleline Capital Lp. v. Odebrecht Fin., Ltd., 323 F.Supp 3d 

393, 443 (S.D.N.Y. 2018). The statements produced by the Petitioners were not 

merely general, but rather, were misleading and were not accompanied by 

qualifiers.  

The most pungent examples of misleading statements by the Petitioners 

are statements four and seven. Again, in statement four the Petitioners claimed 

to have adopted the latest technology in order to minimize water and soil 

contamination, but in actuality, Petitioners ignored investigating the risks of 

seismic activity and rebuffed efforts by their engineers to increase their storage 
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capacity. (Stmt. 2). Further still, Petitioners claimed to believe there was about 

a zero percent chance of a major environmental event happening on their 

property. (Stmt. 4). Accounting for hindsight bias, it is materially misleading to 

put the chances of any major environmental event near zero after receiving 

three series of unsolicited phone calls by universities and ignoring the 

observable fact that their storage capacity had approached capacity multiple 

times. Holding statements such as these to be mere puffery would allow future 

company executives to systematically downplay risks associated with their 

respective businesses. Indeed  

 In addition to the above, the context in which statements are made helps 

distinguish those statements from the materially misleading to the merely 

exaggerated. Petrobras Sec. Litig., 116 F. Supp. 3d 368, 381 (S.D.N.Y. 2015). 

Specifically, when the defendant knows that general statements are untrue 

those misrepresentations are actionable. See Novak v. Kasaks, 216 F.3d 300, 

315 (2d. Cir. 2000) (finding general statements that inventory was “in good 

shape” and “under control” actionable where defendants knew the contrary was 

true).” In the present case, Petitioners represented to investors that their 

highest priority was preventing damage from environmental occurrences. 

(Stmt. 2). Petitioners also assured investors that their commitment to the 

environment was unwavering and that they continually made sure they kept 

up with best practices. (Stmts. 1, 3). Meanwhile, the contrary was true. 

Petitioners ignored reports of increasing seismic activity, declined to invest in 

expanding storage capacity, and broke from best business customs by using 
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excessive explosive. These statements, when viewed in the context of the 

information asymmetry Petitioners enjoyed, amounted to materially misleading 

statements investors relied upon when deciding to gain exposure to the oil and 

gas industry. 

 Two final – and critical – points regarding puffery: (1) courts should 

exercise caution when deciding if a statement was mere puffery as a matter of 

law at the motion to dismiss stage; and (2) statements remain actionable if they 

omit relevant information upon which a reasonable investor would rely. Both 

points encourage upholding the court of appeals decision. As to the notion that 

courts should exercise caution in deciding on puffery as a matter of law, the 

lower court correctly held that a motion to dismiss should only be granted 

reasonable minds could not differ as to the question of their unimportance. (R. 

at 16) citing Mulligan v. Impax Laboratories, Inc., 36 F. Supp. 3d 942, 967 (N.D. 

Cal. 2014); In re Ford Motor Co. Sec. Litig., 381 F. 3d 563, 570 (6th Cir. 2004). 

In the case at bar, Respondents assert that misleading investors as to the 

multiple reports, over-flowed storage capacity, and Petitioners departure from 

best practices regarding explosives rise to the level of material omissions and 

misstatements. However, even if this court did not wish to extend such a 

ruling, Respondents assert that reasonable minds could differ on whether 

statements 2-5 and 6-8 would be important to an investor in conjunction with 

context and the asymmetric information Petitioners held. As such, the lower 

court was correct in holding that the district courts grant of a 12(b)(6) was 

inappropriate. 
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 The final point concerns statements deemed actionable due to their 

omission of relevant information upon which a reasonable investor would rely. 

In its decision, the lower court pointed to Basic v. Levinson to stand for the 

proposition that omissions can be actionable. (R. at 18) citing Basic v. Levinson, 

485 U.S. 244 (1998). In that case, the Supreme Court articulated a materiality 

standard that depends on the balancing of “both the indicated probability that 

the event will occur and the anticipated and the anticipated magnitude of the 

event in light of the totality of the company activity.” Id. at 238. In short, this is 

a measurement of the significance of the event, discounted by the chances of it 

actually happening. In the wake of this decision, companies have created 

bright-line rules about answering questions and today the reply “no comment” 

to questions regarding uncertain or speculative questions is the norm. 

However, in the case at bar, Petitioners did not answer “no comment” at the 

investor meeting. Instead, Petitioners espoused the belief that there was a near 

zero percent chance of an environmental event happening. This, despite the 

reports from their own engineers and universities. What’s more, the lower court 

was correct in pointing out that fracking is a notoriously risky industry, and as 

such, such statements coupled with material omissions would indeed be 

material information upon which reasonable investors would rely.  

 In short, the statements Petitioners made during the course of 2018 

could be interpreted by a reasonable investor to be materially misleading. Had 

Petitioners been forthcoming about the seismic activity, capacity issues, and 
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explosive practices such information would have significantly altered the total 

mix of available information. 

B. Petitioners Acted With Scienter In Producing The Misleading 
Statements 

 
In addition to identifying materially misleading statements, Respondents 

pleaded sufficient facts to demonstrate a strong inference that Petitioners acted 

with scienter. Scienter is a necessary component of a valid Section 10(b) claim. 

In reference to Section 10(b), the Fifth Circuit articulated that the “required 

state of mind… is an intent to deceive, manipulate, or defraud, or severe 

recklessness.” Lormand v. US Unwired, Inc., 565 F.3d 228, 251 (5th Cir. 2009). 

The Supreme Court has denied answering whether recklessness meets the 

element of scienter at least three times. See, e.g., Matrixx Initiatives, Inc. v. 

Siracusano, 563 U.S. 27 (2011); Tellabs Inc v. Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd., 551 

U.S. 308 (2007); and Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185 (1976).  

There are three reasons this Court should adopt a recklessness standard 

for scienter. First, lower courts are virtually unanimous in their adoption of a 

recklessness standard See Richard H. Walker & J. Gordon Seymour, Recent 

Judicial and Legislative Developments Affecting the Private Securities Fraud Class Action, 40 

ARIZ. L. REV. 1003, 1026 (1998) (“11 Circuits…have considered the issue have 

held that recklessness suffices"). Second, recklessness satisfied scienter in the 

common law. See Dain Donelson & Robert Prentice, Scienter Pleading and Rule 

10b-5: Empirical Analysis and Behavioral Implications, 63 CASE W. RES. 441 

(2012). Finally, to hold otherwise would be to create a perverse incentive for 

corporate managers. For example, if intent was decided to be the standard than 
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future managers will have an incentive to avoid investigating troubling reports 

and best practice procedures prior to required disclosures – such as a Form 

10-K – or investor meetings. 

In order to adequately plead a claim under Section 10(b), a plaintiff must 

“state with particularity facts giving rise to a strong inference that the 

defendant acted with the required state of mind.” 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(2). In 

Tellabs, the Supreme Court defined “strong inference” as “more than merely 

plausible or reasonable – it must be cogent and at least as compelling as any 

opposing inference of nonfraudulent intent.” Tellabs Inc, 551 U.S at 314. Put 

another way, scienter exists if Petitioners were as likely to be reckless as merely 

negligent. Further still, the Supreme Court has observed that proof of scienter 

is frequently a matter of circumstantial evidence. Herman & MacLean v. 

Huddleston, 459 U.S. 375, 390 n.30 (1983). Viewed through this prism, 

Respondents met their pleading burden. Again, Petitioners ignored three 

separate series of phone calls from concerned university geology departments, 

refused to increase dangerously full storage capacity, and broke from industry 

best practices while using explosives. At a minimum, such facts sufficiently 

plead scienter and warrant a trail.  

Circuit courts have further elaborated upon the standard of scienter. For 

example, the Fifth Circuit held that scienter is not merely negligence but rather 

requires significant departures from ordinary care that creates a danger of 

misleading shareholders “that is either known to the defendant or is so obvious 

that the defendant must have been aware of it.” Abrams v. Baker Hughes Inc., 
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292 F.3d 424, 430 (5th Cir. 2002). Even more to the point, the appellate court 

correctly held that “allegations that defendants turned a blind eye to improper 

conduct or recklessly ignored the falsity of their statements in light of contrary 

reports can give risk to a strong inference of scienter under Section 10(b). (R. at 

20) citing In re VeriFone Holdings, Inc. Sec. Litig., 704 F.3d 694, 708 (9th Cir. 

2012); and Frank v. Dana Corp., 646 F.3d 954, 961 (6th Cir. 2011). This 

approach makes sense. Defendants should not be rewarded with a 12(b)(6) for 

failing to investigate multiple reports, ignoring their engineers, and breaking 

from best practices. 

II. LIABILITY UNDER SECTION 20(a) OF THE SECURITIES AND 
EXCHANGE ACT DOES NOT REQUIRE A PLEADING OF 
“CULPABLE PARTICIPATION” 

 
The court below ruled correctly when it found that, in order to properly 

plead controlling person liability under Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act, there 

is no need to plead “culpable participation.” First, as the vast majority of courts 

agree, the plain reading of the statute has no place for “culpable participation.” 

The word “participation” appears nowhere in the statute and appears nowhere 

in the SEC’s understanding of what it is to have control person liability. 

Second, a requirement of “culpable participation” in 20(a) goes beyond and 

against Congressional intent in fashioning control person liability as a broad, 

remedial measure. Third, the idea that a plaintiff has to plead “culpable 

participation” in order to properly establish a prima facie case of control person 

liability does not make sense given that “good faith” and “non-inducement” by 

the control person are affirmative defenses to liability. Requiring the plaintiff to 
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plead “culpable participation”, will only confuse the burdens of proof of 

plaintiffs and defendants. 

A. The Plain Language of Section 20(a) Leaves No Room For A 
“Culpable Participation” Requirement 

 
The plain language of Section 20(a) leaves no room for “culpable participation” 

to be an element that must be plead or proven by the plaintiff. Control person 

liability is predicated on Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act, and the text of the 

provision reads as follows: 

Every person who, directly or indirectly, controls any person liable under 
any provision of this chapter or of any rule or regulation thereunder shall 
also be liable jointly and severally with and to the same extent as such 
controlled person to any person to whom such controlled person is liable, 
unless the controlling person acted in good faith and did not directly or 
indirectly induce the act or acts constituting the violation or cause of 
action. 
 

15 U.S.C. § 78t(a). As an initial matter, nowhere in the text of the statute does 

the word “participation” appear at all. The operative word in the provision is 

“control”, and the dispute among the Circuits largely centers around what it 

means for a person to have control of someone who has committed a primary 

violation, and what kind of behavior is encompassed within the contours of 

liability. When enacting the statute, Congress gave little to no guidance for the 

courts as to how to understand “control” and how to apply it. Congress 

believed that it would be “undesirable” to have a strict definition of control, 

since “[i]t would be difficult if not impossible to enumerate or to anticipate the 

many ways in which control may be exerted.” H.R.Rep. No. 1383, 73rd Cong., 

2d Sess. 26 (1934). The U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission weighed in 

on the issue, but they similarly allowed for wide latitude in interpretation of the 
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statute, when they defined control as “[t]he possession, direct or indirect, of the 

power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a 

person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract, or 

otherwise.” 17 C.F.R. § 240.12(b)–2 (1983). Nowhere in the text of the statute, 

the Congressional understanding, or the SEC’s statement on control person 

liability, is there any mention of the control person needing to be directly 

involved in the primary violation in order for liability to attach.  

By the plain language of 20(a), even someone who indirectly controls a 

person who has committed a primary violation is potentially subject to control 

person liability. This type of language leaves open the possibility of attaching 

liability to an individual who has had no direct contact with the person 

involved in the primary violation, which is a far cry from needing to plead 

“culpable participation” in order to even establish a prima facie case of control 

person liability. The vast majority of the Circuit courts to have addressed the 

issue agree that “culpable participation” is not necessary for a prima facie case 

of control person liability. See, e.g., Lustgraaf v. Behrens, 619 F.3d 867 (8th 

Cir. 2010) (“[c]ulpable participation by the alleged control person in the primary 

violation is not part of a plaintiff’s prima facie case”); Hollinger v. Titan Capital 

Corp., 914 F.2d 1564 (9th Cir. 1990) (“we hold that plaintiff is not required to 

show ‘culpable participation’ to establish that a broker-dealer was a controlling 

person under § 20(a)”); Harrison v. Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc., 974 F.2d 873 

(7th Cir. 1992) (“[w]e have looked to whether the alleged control-person 

actually… exercised control over[] the operations of the person in general… 
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whether or not that power was exercised”); Brown v. Enstar Group, Inc., 84 F.3d 

393 (11th Cir. 1996) (finding a defendant “liable as a controlling person” 

without any finding of culpable participation); G.A. Thompson & Co., Inc. v. 

Partridge, 636 F.2d 945 (5th Cir. 1981) (“[n]either th[e] [Regulation] nor the 

statute appears to require participation in the wrongful transaction”). Even 

circuits that have held that “culpable participation” is a required element of a 

20(a) case, including the Second Circuit, have experienced intra-Circuit splits 

on the issue. See In re Initial Public Offering Securities Litigation, 241 F.Supp.2d 

281 (S.D.N.Y. 2003) (“scienter is not an essential element of a Section 20(a) 

claim”). The majority of courts agree, as I argue, that a plain reading of 20(a) 

shows that liability for being in control of a primary violator has no necessary 

bearing on whether the controlling person culpably participated in the primary 

violation or not.  

The “culpable participation” requirement is not only inapposite to the 

plain language of the provision, its genesis relied on faulty reasoning and a 

misunderstanding of the defenses to control person liability inherent in Section 

20(a). The language of “culpable participation” comes from a 1973 case out of 

the Second Circuit called Lanza v. Drexel, which relied on language from an 

earlier Third Circuit decision, Kohn v. American Metal Climax, Inc., in which the 

Kohn court described the legislative history of Rule 10b-5, and said that 

“[t]here is no evidence that Congress intended that under Section 10(b) anyone 

should be an insurer against false or misleading statements made non-

negligently or in good faith.” Lanza, 479 F.2d 1277, 1299 (2d Cir. 1973) 
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(quoting Kohn, 458 F.2d 255 (3d Cir.), cert. denied, 409 U.S. 874, 93 S.Ct. 120, 

34 L.Ed.2d 126 (1972)). The Second Circuit took that language and reasoned 

that secondary liability under Section 20(a) must also involve an element of 

culpability, since without a culpability element, the control person essentially 

acts as an insurer against the fraudulent statements of the primary violator. 

Lanza, 479 F.2d at 1299. This reasoning is incorrect, since the control person 

under Section 20(a) does not in fact act as an insurer against the primary 

violator, because built into the statute itself is a “good faith” or “non-

inducement” defense, whereby an alleged control person can avoid control 

person liability by proving that they “acted in good faith and did not directly or 

indirectly induce the act or acts constituting the [primary] violation.” 15 U.S.C. 

§ 78t(a). This understanding comports, again, with the plain language of the 

statute. A control person does not act as an “insurer” against the actions of 

another if the control person is able to prove that their behavior was made in 

good faith. The majority of courts to have considered the issue treat “good 

faith” and “non-inducement” as affirmative defenses, that protect the alleged 

control person against 20(a) liability. See, e.g., Harrison, 974 F.2d at 881 (“[t]he 

statute provides an affirmative defense for controlling persons”); Metge v. 

Baehler, 762 F.2d 621, 631 (8th Cir. 1985) (“good faith and lack of 

participation are affirmative defenses in a controlling person action”). 

B. A “Culpable Participation” Requirement Is Against Congressional 
Intent 
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A finding that “culpable participation” is a necessary element of making a 

prima facie case of control person liability cuts against Congress’s remedial 

purpose in enacting Section 20(a). The Eighth Circuit in Farley v. Henson found 

that the control-person statute was meant to be “remedial” and to be 

“construed liberally”, thereby finding that liability required only “some indirect 

means of discipline or influence short of actual direction to hold a ‘controlling 

person’ liable.” 11 F.3d 827, 836 (8th Cir. 1993) (quoting Myzel v. Fields, 386 

F.2d 718, 738 (8th Cir.1967), cert. denied, 390 U.S. 951, 88 S.Ct. 1043, 19 

L.Ed.2d 1143 (1968)). A liberal construction of 20(a) is not in keeping with a 

requirement that a control person have “culpably participated” in the primary 

violation, because a “culpable participation” requirement would unduly restrict 

a finding of liability under the statute, and frustrate the remedial purpose for 

which the statute is intended. This is especially true in light of the fact that 

there is a built-in “good faith” defense for alleged control persons, which serves 

as an appropriate restriction on a finding of liability. For a court to find that 

control person liability requires both a showing of “culpable participation” 

along with a “good faith” defense would doubly serve to limit the scope of 20(a). 

 The legislative history of the Exchange Act further shows that the intent 

of Congress in enacting the control person liability provision was to prevent 

persons who controlled primary violators from “behind the scenes” from 

evading liability. See Erin L. Massey, Control Person Liability Under Section 

20(a): Striking a Balance of Interests for Plaintiffs and Defendants, HOUS. BUS. & 

TAX. L.J. 109, 128 (2005). If an individual “culpably participates” in a primary 
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violation, then that person is no longer acting “behind the scenes”, and is in 

fact potentially liable for the primary violation itself. Control person liability is 

properly understood as a secondary liability provision, and this fact is not in 

dispute. See, e.g., Rochez Bros., Inc. v. Rhoades, 527 F.2d 880, 880 (3d Cir. 

1975). I argue that the proper line to be drawn between primary and secondary 

liability, as it concerns 20(a) specifically, is doing away with any “culpable 

participation” requirement. By requiring a control person to have “culpably 

participated” in a violation, that control person would have moved into the 

realm of a primary violator, and may be liable under primary liability provisions 

such as Rule 10b-5. This understanding is consistent with the legislative 

purpose of 20(a), which was to “prevent people and entities from using straw 

parties… [to act] on their behalf to accomplish ends that would be forbidden 

directly by the securities laws.” Laperriere v. Vesta Ins. Group, Inc., 526 F.3d 

715, 721 (11th Cir. 2008). Thus, the idea behind 20(a) was to encompass 

individuals who had not culpably participated in the primary violation, but 

were instead acting behind the scenes to control other persons in 

accomplishing their ends. Requiring culpable participation unduly frustrates 

this Congressional purpose, and blurs the line between primary and secondary 

liability. The delineations between primary and secondary liability must be 

drawn, lest secondary liability be used to “sweep up all people who can be 

characterized as participants in or contributors to the success of the firm that 

issues the securities.” Barker v. Henderson, Franklin, Starnes & Holt, 797 F.2d 

490, 495 (7th Cir. 1986) (holding further that blurring the lines between 
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primary and secondary liability would “unravel the presumptions and defenses 

created by Congress”). 

C. A “Culpable Participation” Requirement Creates Inherent 
Statutory Conflict And Confuses Evidentiary Burdens 

 
A requirement of “culpable participation” for control person liability 

creates an inherent conflict in the language of Section 20(a), which unduly 

confuses the evidentiary burdens for both plaintiffs and defendants. This 

conflict is best resolved by doing away with a “culpable participation” 

requirement. An “illogical result” is created if “culpable participation” is an 

essential element of the plaintiff’s control person liability case, because it 

would first require a plaintiff to plead and prove that a defendant had “culpably 

participated” in a violation, and then the burden would shift to the defendant to 

prove that they had acted in good faith, but the burden shifts only after it had 

already been shown by the plaintiff that the defendant was a “culpable 

participant” in the primary violation. In re Parmalat Sec. Litig., 375 F.Supp.2d 

278, 308 n.200 (S.D.N.Y. 2005) (citation omitted). This creates a confusing 

result for both plaintiff and defendant, and has the effect of rendering the “good 

faith” clause in 20(a) to be a meaningless one. Once a plaintiff has plead and 

proven “culpable participation” by the defendant, the defendant will be unable 

to prove good faith or lack of inducement. Id.  

 The confusion in evidentiary burdens becomes readily apparent when 

examining caselaw in the Second Circuit. The Second Circuit, which is the 

circuit that created the “culpable participation” standard, struggles to 

consistently apply their own test. In re Initial Public Offering, 241 F.Supp.2d at 
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395 (“[i]nterestingly, whenever the Second Circuit has applied its own test, it 

has essentially rendered the ‘culpable participation’ requirement meaningless”). 

In S.E.C. v. First Jersey Securities, Inc., the Second Circuit held that the alleged 

control person had the evidentiary burden of proving his non-inducement, in 

order to escape control person liability. 101 F.3d 1450, 1473 (2d Cir. 1996). 

The court here treats “good faith” and “non-inducement” as affirmative 

defenses against control person liability allegations. The effect of pleading and 

proving “culpable participation” is entirely negated if the defenses of “good 

faith” and “non-inducement” are available, regardless, to defendants. The same 

conflicting and confusing situation can be found in the Second Circuit’s 

decision in Suez Equity, where the court found that it was enough to properly 

allege control person liability under 20(a) by merely alleging that the “[primary 

violator] was an officer of the Bank and that he had primary responsibility for 

the dealings of that Bank and the other corporate defendants with SAM 

Group.” Suez Equity Investors, L.P. v. Toronto-Dominion Bank, 250 F.3d 87, 101 

(2d Cir. 2001). The court goes on to write that, “this allegation is sufficient to 

plead controlling-person liability for the Bank derived from [the primary 

violator].” Id. There is no mention of culpable participation by the alleged 

controlling entity, and even the Second Circuit admits that the allegations, 

which are sufficient, are “somewhat broad.” Id. The most natural reading of 

Section 20(a) is to do away with the judge-made “culpable participation” 

requirement, and allow for a showing of “good faith” to act as an affirmative 

defense against 20(a) allegations. This resolves any inherent conflict in the 
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provision, and resolves the confusion that arises from conflicting evidentiary 

burdens. 

CONCLUSION 
 

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent asks that the Supreme Court of 

the United States affirm the court below in finding that Respondents alleged a 

viable claim against Red River under Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, and 

that there is no requirement to allege that James Wilson was a “culpable 

participant” in Red River’s primary violation of Section 10(b) in order to state a 

control person liability claim against him under Section 20(a) of the Exchange 

Act. 


